2024 TWEE PROGRAMMA'S VAN EN DOOR STICHTING CULTUURGENERATIE:

- YOUR JOURNEY 2021-2024 ERASMUSPLUS EU SAMENWERKING. HIERONDER DE PUBLICATIE, MEER OP <u>WWW.YOURJOEURNEY.NL</u>
- HET TWEEDE PROGRAMMA, EEN TRANSNATIONALE SAMENWERKING MET ARUBA OVER VERZETHELD VAN KLEUR: BOY ECURY. DIT PROGRAMMA LOOPT DOOR TOT IN 2025: <u>WWW.CULTUURGENERATIE.NL</u>

STICHTING CULTUUЯGENEЯATIE

BOY ECURY 2024-2025

• "Als deze brief aankomt, denk ik dat het afgelopen zal zijn met mij. Het zal May en Pappa erg veel verdriet doen, maar ik hoop dat ze begrip zullen hebben voor wat ik te schrijven heb [...] Niet iedereen heeft de mogelijkheid dit te doen en ik beschouw het als een eer voor mezelf, maar in de eerste plaats voor mijn geliefd Aruba (dat Nederlands is) en voor mijn geliefde vader en moeder."



1. Inleiding evaluatie DE GLIMLACH VAN BOY 2024-2025

De leden van de verzetsgroep waar Boy Ecury lid van was, schreven na de opdracht tot liquidatie van een verrader, allen een afscheidsbrief aan hun geliefden. Boy 22 jaar, deed dat ook. Een vooruitwijzend moment, want de liquidatie mislukte, Boy werd verradenen vermoord op de Waalsdorpervlakte op 6 november 1944..

De makers van De Glimlach van Boy – verder Boy – kenden de inhoud van deze brief. Echter deze was tijdens de voorbereidingen in het bezit van Boys neef, Ted Schouten, die het gelijknamige boek en naslagwerk over hem schreef.¹ Een indrukwekkend en ontroerend moment, toen op 6 november 2024, bij de grote herdenking op het Boy Ecury plein in Oranjestad Aruba, deze brief en het verzetskruis van Boy, werden overgedragen aan het Archivo Nacional van Aruba.

Wat tijdens Corona begon aan de schrijftafels van Paulette Smit en ondergetekende, werd 3 jaar later een nationale dag van Aruba met scholen, familie, motorclubs én de regering en de gouverneur, om ieder jaar als herdenking van alle helden, herhaald te worden.

2. HOE DE GLIMLACH VAN BOY WERD EN WORDT:

De transnationale aspecten van deze samenwerking kwamen en komen tot uitdrukking in:

- De start met de audities voor in Nederland woonachtige Arubaanse studenten, dan wel voormalige studenten in Pakhuis de Zwijger.
- Uit deze audities komen 4 toppers waarvan er twee daadwerkelijk meedoen aan de tweetalige voorstellingen op Aruba en in Nederland: Osvaldo Correa en Pierre Sully Jourdain
- De Papiamento vertaling van de bewerkte Boy Ecury monoloog uit de voorstelling Vergeten Helden uit 2021, wordt gemaakt door de Arubaanse Olga Buckley en geredigeerd door Paulette Smit. (Paulette is afkomstig van Curaçao en er zijn verschillen in uitdrukkingen en schrijfwijzen).

¹ https://www.onlinebibliotheek.nl/catalogus/407675655/boy-ecury-ted-schouten

- De talrijke repetities beginnen, eerst in het Papiamento voor vertrek naar Aruba.
- Het transnationale overleg met Aruba, met name met Alice van Romondt, zowel erebestuurslid van het Cultuurfonds voor de Cariben als pennigmeester van stichting Boy Ecury. Dit gaat met name over de contacten met de scholen en het protocol voor de herdenkingsoptredens op 5 en 6 november 2024.
- Ondertussen is de inzet in Nederland gericht op spelen dat blijkt lastiger omdat men eerst iets wil zien.
- NAAR ARUBA: eind oktober vertrekken we naar Aruba. Dat heeft enige voeten in de aarde omdat een van de acteurs zijn tas is vergeten in de trein. Uiteindelijk zijn regisseur/schrijver Paulette, Déon van Kompas en acteurs Pierre, Osvaldo en Conny gearriveerd. Een goede ontvangst in grotendeel gesponsorde locaties. Gelukkig maar want de tickets zijn veel duurder dan begroot.
- Een mix aan activiteiten neemt een aanvang: repetities, bevestiging van de scholen, voorbereidingen op twee herdenkingsoptredens in het Archeologisch Museum-geboortehuis van Boy en op 6 november op het Boy Ecuryplein. Vooral de scholen blijken arbeidsintensief om definitief vast te leggen. Déon Bisslik van stichting Kompas kent de meeste en racet over het eiland in een gesponsorde auto om alles te regelen. Het leidt tot 15 optredens voor 100den leerlingen. Eigenlijk ons diepst gevoelde succes, spelen voor jongeren die nauwelijks naar theater gaan, weinig weten over BOY, en die ademloos luisteren naar de monologen in het Papiamento en onder leiding van stichting Kompas deelnemen aan de nagesprekken. Je ziet de vensters openen. Vooral omdat Déon, Pierre en Osvaldo Yu di Aruba zijn, kinderen van het eiland. ONVERGETELIJK!
- Daarna goed ingespeeld de optredens op 5 en 6 november. De communities van het eiland, de notabelen, de Ecury's én op 6 november, een verrassing. De motorclubs van Aruba – gestoken in Boy t-shirts – vormen een erehaag op de boulevard voor het Ecury plein. Het hele eiland doet mee. Indrukwekkend bezoek -als beschreven hierboven – van de weduwe van Ted Schouten – en de kleinzoon van Boys beste vriend Luis de Lannoy die ervoor speciaal uit de VS overkomt. Zelden slagen we erin – terwijl dat wel altijd de bedoeling is – om een programma zo te doen wortelen dat het volledig door de belanghebbenden wordt toegeëigend.
- 3. TERUG NAAR NEDERLAND waar blijkt dat de positieve energie uit Aruba is overgewaaid in de vorm van Nederlandse speelbeurten: 1. 18 november voor het Genootschap Nederland Aruba in de Paleiskerk in Den Haag in het Papiamento
- 8 december: de monoloog in het Nederlands én het Papiamento in het Verzetsmuseum van Amsterdam
- 16 januari Pakhuis de Zwijger eveneens tweetalig met tv registratie door AT5
- 18 februari Studio de Bakkerij in Rotterdam
- 1 mei in Theater de Vaillant in Den Haag
- 4 mei: weer in het Verzetsmuseum Amsterdam
- 13 mei: De Lochal grote bibliotheek in Tilburg, alleen in het Papiamento in combinatie met de film van Frans Weisz over Boy. (Btw deze wilden we ook voor de scholieren op Aruba vertonen, echter de producent vroeg exorbitante bedragen0.
- 31 oktober Bijlmer Parktheater Amsterdam ZO.
- Erna en ervoor spelen we door, want Boys verhaal verdient het nog lang verteld te worden.

Bereik Aruba	Aantal	Aantal leerlingen
	10 scholen	850
Bereik Aruba herdenkingen	2	1500 bezoekers
Optredens Nederland tot nu	6	350
toe		
Uitzending registratie AT5	1	5000 bij benadering

DE ACTEURS vonden we voornamelijk via onze netwerken en met hulp van het Arubahuis. Het bleek ingewikkelder dan gedacht om de in Nederland studerende Arubanen die door Kompas worden bereikt op korte termijn te betrekken. Hun contacten met scholen op Aruba en 'spin in het webrol' bleek van grote waarde. Een win-win situatie omdat de samenwerking met stichting Kompas aantoont dat deze multidisciplinair is in de begeleiding en talentontwikkeling van Arubaanse jongeren die in Nederland studeren of gaan studeren.



OSVALDO CORREA – links - is op Aruba bekend omdat hij diverse keren ARTE DI PALABRA won. Dar zijn wedstrijden in de kunst van het spreken. Hij studeert interactieve theatrale vormgeving aan de Hogeschool voor de Kunsten in Utrecht. Pierre Sully Jourdain is afgestudeerd accountant en werkt in het AMC. Op Aruba maakte hij deel uit van het jongerenparlement. Hij blijkt daarnaast of grote artistieke kwaliteiten te beschikken in zang, dans én theater. Daarnaast is hij degene die de monologen het meest tweetalig brengt, toch nogal een inspanning.

4. TENSLOTTE: het belang van de vertaling van de monoloog naar het Papiamento in dit programma is GROOT. Behalve dat het de monoloog in de eigen taal toegankelijk maakte voor honderden schoolkinderen, geeft het Boy als held van Aruba terug aan

het eiland én aan de Caribisch/Arubaanse communities in Nederland. Dat werd overduidelijk door hun grote opkomst zowel naar het verzetsmuseum in Amsterdam als naar Pakhuis de Zwijger, Studio de Bakkerij. Veel Nederlands taligen kregen de vertaling in handen en genoten van de passie van het Papiamento. (Het maakte een vertaling naar Engels overbodig).

Van de twee acteurs is Pierre er – na tal van repetities en enkele slapeloze nachten – in geslaagd om beide monologen in beide talen te brengen. Met succes gezien de herhaalde vraag van het verzetsmuseum om op 4 mei weer te komen spelen. (In het kader van Theater na de Dam en Open Joodse Huizen). Beide acteurs – die zeer getalenteerd én amateur zijn – doen het fantastisch. Zij spelen tegen de maximale vergoeding die mogelijk is voor vrijwilligers. Dat maakt het mogelijk gezien de beperkte budgetten van de meeste locatie om nog lang door te spelen. Onze stichting is CJP acceptant voor het voortgezet onderwijs en is van plan het voor het komend schooljaar in het aanbod naar het VO mee te nemen. Zodat er nog tal van optredens volgen. Daarom een goed moment om deze evaluatie nu onder uw aandacht te brengen zodat we deze – met de blik op de toekomst – met u afronden.

"Boy was een jongeman met een geweldig gevoel voor rechtvaardigheid en ik dacht dat hij voelde dat hij ook iets moest doen tegen de bezetter ... dat hij in opstand moest komen tegen het onrecht dat anderen werd aangedaan. Het was een totale bereidheid voor vrijheid te vechten en niet alleen zijn eigen vrijheid, zijn persoonlijke vrijheid. Dat kwam volgens mij pas op de tweede plaats. Maar de vrijheid van anderen ..."

Tirso Sprockel verzetsvriend van Boy²

² Beide citaten uit Oorlogsbronnen: <u>https://www.oorlogsbronnen.nl/artikel/boy-ecury-een-geweldig-gevoel-voor-rechtvaardigheid</u>

2. YOUR JOURNEY 2021-2024



The Your Journey Foundation Bricks explores the experiences and outcomes of workshops designed to support local and newcomers youth in feeling at home in their host countries and fostering social inclusion. The workshops incorporated interactive and creative elements such as storytelling, picture-taking, and group activities to encourage creativity and connection. In the theoretical framework we elaborate on various concepts such as feeling at home, social inclusion, ingroup-outgroup dynamics, and empathy. In addition, the use of arts, particularly photovoice and storytelling, are explained as they were central to the workshop approach. The results indicate that participants found the workshops to be positive and enjoyable, with a majority expressing satisfaction and a sense of connection. We hope to provide insights into the value of creative and interactive approaches in supporting feeling at home and a sense of belonging of local youngsters and youngsters with a refugee background (newcomers).

Table of Contents

1 2	Introduction Foundation Bricks Your Journey			3
2 2.1	Theory 4 Newcomers 4			
2.1				
	Feeling at home 5			
2.3	Social inclusion 6	c		
2.4 2.5	Ingroup-Outgroup Empathy 7	6		
2.5	Empacity /			
3 3.1	The use of arts 9	0		
	The use of pictures	9		
3.1.1	Photovoice 10			
3.1.2	Photo elicitation 10	10		
3.2	The use of Storytelling	10		
	v the workshops connect	11		
4	Local situation 11			
4.1	General Situation/Perspe		12	
4.2	Number of Refugees	12		
4.3	Economic and Social Characteristics 13			
4.4	Governmental Perspectiv	/e	14	
4.5	Support Systems 14			
4.6	Main Challenges for Refu	-	15	
4.7	Tensions Between Local and Newcomer Youth 16			
4.8	Capabilities, Hopes, and Dreams		16	
4.9	Toolkit's Value in the Country 17			
5	Method 17			
6	Results 18			
6.1	Greece 20			
6.1.1	Workshop experience	20		
6.1.2	Feeling at home 22			
6.2	The Netherlands 23			
6.2.1	Workshop experience	23		
6.2.2	Feeling at home 24			
6.3	Italy 26			
6.3.1	Workshop experience	26		
6.3.2	Feeling at home 27			

6.4 Germany 29
6.4.1 Workshop experience 29
6.4.2 Feeling at home 30
7 . Conclusion 32

1 Introduction Foundation Bricks Your Journey

The Soul is a stranger trying to find a Home somewhere that is not a where- Rumi

Every journey is a story and every story is a journey. But not every journey is the same. The only similarity between each journey is that the main character went to a variety of experiences and has gained wisdom and insight at the end of it.

At least 89 million people around the world have been forced to flee their homes, they had to go on a journey and created, each of them an unique story. Among them are nearly 27.1 million refugees, around half of whom are under the age of 18 (UNHCR - Figures at a Glance). Youngsters arriving in new countries, already with so much experiences that some of us might never gain. They need to start a new life in a new country. They need to create a new home for themselves, but what is feeling at home to them?

The aim of this project is to explore different perspectives on what is needed to 'feel at home' through creativity, especially photography and storytelling. From the idea that everyone has made a journey to get into the here and now and the wisdom and insight gained during that journey is the basis for everyone's present state of being, it is interesting to put different perspectives side by side. Is the 'what is needed to 'feel at home' different when you have come from far away and fled a situation that was threatening than when you have left the parental nest and are shaping a new life within the same country/city?

There will be differences, but most likely there will be many similarities as well. How do these relate to each other? What happens if you share the stories and start looking for a new story together? And how do you imagine a new story, individually and/or collectively, so that you can share it with others?

The aim of Your Journey – is to offer (youth) professionals "theoretical bricks" to think about and develop workshops to connect youth with a local and refugee backgrounds in order to build strong peaceful communities where everyone feels included and at home. On the Your Journey website -

https://yourjourney.nu/ - you will find the toolbox with all the exercises and the tools and you will find the theoretical foundation bricks. All the exercises can be selected and used for specific contexts about feeling at home.

The Your Journey Toolbox is aimed at:

Youth workers, teachers, artists, young leaders, social workers, volunteers, social entrepreneurs:

1. who work with groups of youngsters with different backgrounds, especially a refugee background but also other migrant backgrounds;

2. who work in training/ education institutions with students or pupils with diverse backgrounds; especially refugee backgrounds

3. who are involved in community art projects facilitating social cohesion among youth;

4. who have their own organization that attempts to have youngsters feel at home and be connected with each other.

This list is not exhaustive, so other professionals might find other contexts in which the toolkit is useful, but these contexts give the reader an idea of where and when to use the Your Journey Toolkit.

Outline of the Foundation Bricks:

In the second chapter, we elaborate on the term "Newcomers" in the context of the global refugee crisis, emphasizing the vulnerability of those who have fled their homes. We discusses variations in European countries' approaches to welcoming newcomers and the distinction between asylum seekers and refugees. In addition we explore the significance of feeling at home, comparing the experiences of young people who have fled their homes with those who have lived in the same location their entire lives. We also focus on shifts to social inclusion and the Capabilities Approach, aiming to foster empathy and narrow the ingroup-outgroup gap. Section 2.4 we the challenges of ingroup-outgroup dynamics and the importance of interaction and empathy. And we conclude by addressing the role of empathy in fostering positive attitudes and reconciling differences is discussed.

In Chapter 4 provide a brief overview of the local situations in Germany, the Netherlands, Italy, and Greece concerning refugees and newcomers. It covers various aspects such as the legal framework for asylum, public sentiments, the number of refugees, economic and social characteristics, governmental perspectives, support systems, main challenges faced by refugees, tensions between local and newcomer youth, and the capabilities, hopes, and dreams of young refugees. The toolkit's potential value in each country is also discussed, emphasizing its role in fostering positive interactions and communication between local and newcomer youth. In Chapter 5 a brief overview of the method is given, in Chapter 6 the results are mentioned. The chapter delves into general outcomes and country-specific outcomes and in the final chapter some conclusions are made. 2 Theory

2.1 Newcomers

As mentioned least 89 million people around the world have been forced to flee their homes, Among them are nearly 27.1 million refugees, around half of whom are under the age of 18 (UNHCR - Figures at a Glance). An asylum seeker is someone who, for various reasons, has left his or her country of origin to seek protection in another country by applying for asylum. When someone applies for asylum, they want to be recognized as a refugee. As long as the decision on the asylum application has not been made, this person will remain an asylum seeker.

Usually it is checked whether the asylum seeker falls under the United Nations Refugee Convention and is therefore recognized as a refugee. Not every asylum seeker is therefore a refugee. According to the UN Refugee Convention of 1951, a refugee is someone who has 'well-founded fear' in his country of origin of persecution on the grounds of race, religion, nationality, political opinion or membership of a particular social group. In the Netherlands when an asylum seeker is a refugee he or she will receive a temporary residence permit for a period of five years. A refugee with a residence permit is called a 'status holder' or 'permit holder'. Because of the negative connotation of the words refugees (and migrants) the term 'newcomers' has been introduced. Newcomers are not born in the new home county but have come here with the aim of staying for a longer period of time. The term newcomers therefore also includes refugees and status holders, as well as other persons who have come the new country for, for example, family reunification, study or work (https://www.mycoa.nl/nl/content/asielzoeker-vluchteling-statushouder-en-nieuwkomer-wat-het-verschil). In recent years, the European countries have varied in the way they welcome newcomers. We can very well imagine this has an influence in the perception of refugees and whether or not they want to stay in the country. For example, in some counties the waiting time for family reunifications have been prolonged, some have cut refugee benefits, some have pushed more towards resettlement, but for example Germany has accepted nearly all asylum seekers that were found to be legitimate refugees (Abdelaaty & Steele, 2022).

In 2021, asylum seekers came from around 140 countries to Europe. Most first time applications were lodged in: Germany (148,200), France (103,800), Spain (62,100), Italy (43,900) and Austria (36,700)(

https://ec.europa.eu/info/strategy/priorities-2019-2024/promoting-our-european-way-life/statistics-migrationeurope_en#overall-figures-of-immigrants-in-european-society). Therefore this project is done in 4 European countries, Germany the Netherlands, Greece and Italy. We can imagine the more Nordic countries, Germany and the Netherlands may be more popular for resettlement than Italy or Greece, and therefore the perception of home might differ.

We can image that the people who have fled their houses are exposed to many risks pre-flight, during their flight, and upon arrival, which make them vulnerable for the development of mental health problems, therefore we decided that this project is not for those who have just arrived, but those who have been here, have settled a bit and for whom feeling at home starts to get relevant for, the Newcomers.

2.2 Feeling at home

The concept of home is a vital aspect of human life, with warmth, safety, loved ones, and a roof above one's head being among the words that come to mind when thinking of home. The importance of home is becoming increasingly significant when discussing theory and implementing solutions to address the global humanitarian crisis (Kale et al., 2019), which is still growing. All refugees share the primary characteristic of losing their homes, and they are defined as individuals who have been displaced from their homes (Papadopoulos, 2002). Such individuals often have a difficult journey, being forced into exile and sometimes realizing that they can

In Chapter 3 we elaborate on the use of arts, including pictures, photovoice, photo elicitation, and storytelling, as tools for exploring subjective differences, and promoting social inclusion and feeling at home as possible outcomes of interventions.

Regardless of whether the experience is positive or negative, all individuals have a sense of home, even if it is not an actual experience of one home. Being at home can be a privilege, where one feels safe and special, but it can also be a place of insecurity, violence, and terror (Blunt and Dowling, 2006 in Kale et al., 2019). Home is not only a physical space where one has a roof over their head and their biological needs are met. It is also a "social, cultural, political, and affective space where individuals give meaning to their everyday life experiences" (Murcia, 2019, p. 1516).

Research shows that even for those who associate home with a single, fixed place, it remains dynamic. When conflict and displacement are part of the journey, home becomes a space that continually transforms (Habib, 1996; Korac, 2009; Murcia, 2019). Thus, depending on the circumstances, home can be "lost and experienced nowhere," but it can also be "mobile and experienced on the move" (Murcia, 2019). In our project, it is interesting to explore whether young people who have fled their homes and those who have lived in the same village or city their entire lives experience feeling at home differently. Do they have more in

common than one might initially assume? Identifying commonalities can evoke empathy, narrow the ingroupoutgroup gap, and promote inclusion among professionals working with such individuals.

2.3 Social inclusion

Research shows that it is difficult for young refugees to really find their place in society. We know from experience in other national and transnational projects that this type of projects can contribute greatly to building contacts between refugees and other groups in society, increasing inclusion. With social inclusion we mean the right of persons to live the kind of lives that they have reasons for to value and to have the capability to construct meaningful lives (Sen 1999; Andrade & Doolin, 2016). Capabilities really entail all the aspects that we need to live a meaningful life (Nussbaum, 2011).

The Capabilities Approach mentions that well-being is about real freedoms (capabilities) people have to achieve valuable 'beings and doings', known as 'functionings' (Austin, 2018). Capabilities are the things that we all need to live a flourishing life. In this project we want all youngsters to be socially included. Therefore the aim of the workshops is not only to see what feeling at home means but also to stimulate similarity and consequentially inclusion. When we focus on similarities, the differences diminish which we will explain in the following section.

2.4 Ingroup-Outgroup

The world has divided land into territorial segments, creating cultural and national boundaries that have proven to be detrimental for refugees. As they lack a national homeland, refugees have been portrayed as a "problem" (Taylor, 2013), implicitly or explicitly. This critique is particularly relevant when considering the question of home and its meaning for refugees. When we view the 'other' group as a 'problem,' we tend to see them as separate from 'us,' perpetuating the 'us versus them' mentality that is all too common in human behavior (De Kreek et al., 2020).

This tendency to view others as separate from ourselves is explained by several theories, such as social identity theory, which suggests that people's self-definition is partly influenced by their group membership, contributing to their self-concept and self-esteem. We tend to categorize ourselves and others based on various features, such as age, gender, ethnicity, religion, economics, politics, beliefs, norms, and values, and develop a personal sense of identity based on the groups we belong to (Turner, 1987). This shared identity with the group is a crucial source of social identification (Brewer, Gonsalkorale & van Dommelen, 2012), leading to a similarity bias that favors similar in-group members and biases against out-group members.

This similarity bias is also in line with the similarity-attraction paradigm, which posits that the more similar people are, the more they tend to like each other. Numerous studies have provided evidence for this paradigm

never return home, resulting in emotional, cognitive, behavioral, and physical difficulties (Dieterich-Hartwell & Koch, 2017).

Research on migration frequently notes that home, identity, and belonging are connected to a specific geographical location. When someone is forced to leave, they lose their home and become "rootless" (Murcia, 2019). However, according to Murcia (2019), home is more than just a physical place. Home can be better viewed "as a particularly significant kind of place with which, and within which, we experience strong social, psychological and emotive attachments" (Easthope, 2004, p.135). It can be a positive place for stimulation and ease, but it can also be a negative place of disappointment and unease.

Based on the above-mentioned theories, it is clear that people tend to classify themselves and others into categories, leading to in-group and out-group formation. As people tend to favor their in-group members and hold biases against out-group members, those without a group to belong to may lose their sense of belonging and self-awareness, especially when others perceive them as "different" (Hewstone, Rubin, & Willis, 2002). Self-awareness is all about our consciousness. Identity tends to reside in this moving flow and is one of the most stable, integrated, and constant elements of self-awareness (Costalat-Founeau, Lipiansky, 2008). Identity can be viewed at different levels, such as personal identity, relational identity, and collective social identity, which exists through shared cultural values. When arriving in a new country, refugees may face threats to their identity, as intercultural adjustment cannot take place while leaving their whole identity intact. These threats may include difficulties in validating their diplomas, being perceived as foreigners, and encountering different cultural etiquettes (Crozet, n.d.). Therefore, interaction is crucial. People need to learn from one another, feel safe, acknowledge similarities and differences, understand where they need to adjust and where they don't, and develop empathy towards one another.

2.5 Empathy

Effective communication and acceptance of others are dependent on emotions. Research shows that people are more likely to recognize emotions in members of their in-group than out-group (Elfenbein & Ambady, 2002). However, empathy can reduce this bias. When we empathize with people from an out-group, it leads to improved attitudes towards the entire group (Batson et al., 1997). Empathy is the ability to recognize emotional experiences in others, experience matched sensations and emotions, and are motivated to alleviate those others' suffering (Cikara et al., 2011 p.149).

To increase positive attitudes towards a group, we should view individuals from their perspective and imagine how their situation affects them. This increases empathic feelings, valuing their welfare, and generalizes to the whole group, resulting in positive beliefs, feelings, and concern for the group (Batson et al., 1997). Therefore, empathy can change our perception of others. It is important to be aware that our point of view is not necessarily shared by everyone, and there may be differences, but are they irreconcilable?

3 The use of arts

Using arts is an effective way to highlight subjective differences as it allows us to delve deeper into our minds, where emotions come into play. Engaging in arts can lead to a state of 'flow', where we become completely absorbed in the present moment, resulting in increased creativity and productivity (Csikszentmihalyi, 1991). Recent research suggests that the arts can also be used as effective tools to trigger positive emotions (Sloboda & Juslin, 2000; Scherder, 2018), provided that people engage in art activities they enjoy.

When engaging in arts activities, people tend to better retrieve and process memories, as it enables them to express their emotions and feelings in a non-linear manner, disrupting automatic thinking. For individuals with limited verbal command, such as those who have recently arrived in a new country, the linear discourse of verbal communication can pose barriers to self-expression.

On a community level, using arts can facilitate multiple understandings, excavate silent voices, and enhance a sense of community and tolerance (Abu Ghazaleh, Hereira & Bos, in press). The use of creative arts can also provide a temporary home for refugees in the social inclusion process, as it creates a safe and interactive atmosphere (Dieterich-Hartwell & Koch, 2017).

3.1 The use of pictures

Perception is the process by which individuals organize and interpret sensory information to give meaning to their environment. Our frame of reference strongly influences what we see, and people's behavior is often based on their perceptions rather than objective reality (Robbins & Judge, 2015). The use of pictures is a powerful tool for exploring perception, as a picture created by an individual reflects their interpretation of the subject matter. Additionally, the brain areas involved in processing visual information are evolutionarily older

⁽Byrne, 1997). Youngsters with a strong group identification tend to enhance group formation, self-esteem, and the ability to cope with developmental issues and feelings of insecurity while growing into adulthood (Tanti et al., 2011).

The use of pictures also has potential benefits at the community level. Pictures can act as a bridge for cultural diversity, allowing participants from different cultural backgrounds to look at the same picture and perceive different things. These different perceptions can be defined, understood, and compared by the participants from different cultural groups when looking at the same picture (Harper, 2002). There are two popular ways to use pictures in this context: photovoice and photo elicitation.

3.1.1 Photovoice

Photovoice is a process in which people use photo images to capture aspects of their environment and experiences and share them with others (Communitytoolbox, n.d., Section 20. Implementing Photovoice in Your Community). Photovoice is mostly used as a collective visual research method where photos are taken by participants and are used to explore and address community needs, stimulate individual empowerment, and create a critical dialogue to advocate community change (Hergenrather, 2009; Sanon, Evans-Agnew & Boutain, 2014). Additionally, participants are often involved in the analysis and conclusion of the report, making it more of a co-learning process (Wang and Burris, 1997 in Kong, Kellner, Austin Els & Orr, 2014; Migliorini & Rania, 2017).

3.1.2 Photo elicitation

Photo elicitation is often used in interviews to guide and stimulate discussion. This adds an extra dimension compared to a typical conversation and can increase the validity and reliability of the information gathered (Harper, 2002). There are two options for using photo elicitation: (1) preselecting pictures and asking participants to evaluate them, or (2) allowing participants to choose the pictures that start the discussion. The latter option often leads to better involvement, interaction, and collaborative knowledge (Bessell, Deese, & Medina, 2007). Additionally, there is a psychological therapeutic method that uses pictures known as "phototherapy" or "therapeutic photography" (Loewenthal et al., 2017). In this method, a set of picture cards is used, and the client chooses one to start the therapy, which is similar to the process of photo elicitation.

3.2 The use of Storytelling

Sharing stories is a unique characteristic that not only reflects reality but also constructs it (Czarniawska, 2004; Spector-Mersel, 2010). Every individual constructs a story about themselves and their lives, and the type of story they create can assign either a positive or negative value to their life and activities, providing either empowerment or not (Rappaport, 1995). Rappaport distinguishes three types of narratives: individual stories, community narratives recognized and shared by a group, and dominant cultural narratives distributed through mass media or institutions that communicate stereotypes and serve as an influential backdrop against which more localized community narratives and personal stories are told.

Empowering settings are places where various personal stories and community narratives are shared and valued open-mindedly (Kreek, 2014; Rappaport, 1995). Storytelling is an important tool for creating a positive story about oneself, especially for young people who have experienced negativity in their lives. It provides social and emotional support and an opportunity to think about oneself in new ways (Rappaport, 1995), ultimately helping individuals see their future in a positive light.

than those involved in processing verbal information, allowing pictures to access deeper, more unconscious levels of the brain (Harper, 2002).

Pictures are an effective way to illustrate and explain complex subjects and can promote a deeper understanding of a particular topic. They enable participants to express their emotions, perspectives, and values, and facilitate communication by reducing misunderstandings and improving memory (Collier, 1957 in Fleron & Pedersen, 2010). Taking pictures of things that make individuals happy has been shown to increase well-being (Kurtz, 2015), and teaching participants to take their own pictures fosters ownership of the images and can reveal aspects of the subject matter that might not be immediately apparent to others (Oliffe & Bottorf, 2007 in Kong, Kellner, Austin Els & Orr, 2015).

Storytelling involves sharing one's own life story, which creates a memory, gives meaning to events, and gives individuals a sense of identity (Rappaport, 1998). Authentic experiences are the foundation of these stories, which have a beginning, middle, and end, and often have a clear point (Rappaport, 1995). Sharing one's story creates a sense of empowerment, which is defined as an intentional and continuous process involving mutual respect, critical reflection, and caring participation, enabling people to better utilize valuable resources and resources within themselves and their environment (Rappaport, 1998; Saleeby, 1996).

Storytelling creates a safe environment where young people feel comfortable sharing their stories, often through game elements. Research shows that this positive social group experience helps young people develop a more positive self-image and gain confidence, which is essential for their future development and ability to cope with adversity (Tsang, Hui & Law, 2012). It also provides an opportunity for practicing social skills and learning about people from different cultures in a safe setting, which can be applied in different environments (Nelson et al., 2008). Overall, storytelling can be a powerful tool for personal growth and community building. 3.3 How the workshops connect

With previous international projects we already gained some knowledge how pictures and stories facilitate interaction, and can further deepen out a certain subject. In this project the focus will be on 'feeling home', but the process remains the same. We want to achieve social inclusion and every one to be able to feel at home, wether in a new country or not. Figure 1 gives an overview of this logic of change on individual and group level, and how these levels are interconnected in five phases which a workshop can contain. This is based on a previous PiCs project (De Kreek et al., 2020)





4 Local situation ²

4.1 General Situation/Perspective

In Germany, asylum is constitutionally protected, offering four forms of protection: asylum, refugee, subsidiary protection, or deportation ban. People fleeing violence, war and terror from other parts of the world are supposed to find protection in this country. Based on the German Asylum Act, an applicant for asylum may receive one of the four forms of protection – entitlement to asylum, refugee protection, subsidiary protection, or a ban on deportation, or none of the above. Despite a fair process, challenges like biased interviews and regional policy variations exist. Media influence, exaggerated statistics, and emotionalized discussions shape public opinion.

In the Netherlands, public sentiment on newcomers is divided. While surveys suggest support for refugees fleeing war, there's a housing shortage causing prolonged stays in refugee centres. Governmental efforts to address this are perceived as insufficient, fuelling resentment with locals who need housing as well.

In Italy WeWorld's research reveals that immigrants and refugees often feel marginalized in society, leading to a lack of trust in political institutions. Misperceptions exist, such as Italians overestimating the foreign population.

Immigration ranks as the fourth major concern after unemployment, economic crises, and taxes. Trust in media reporting on immigration is low, and opinions on its societal impact are polarized. Overall, most Italians declare to be in favour of welcoming newcomers. A certain percentage of citizens believes that the country cannot host any more newcomers, since the numbers are perceived to be way bigger then what they really are.

Greece grapples with the dual challenge of managing maritime borders and handling the influx of refugees. Allegations of pushbacks by the Coast Guard add complexity to the situation. Public opinion is divided, with a majority supporting border protection, emphasizing national sovereignty. However, a significant number actively defends refugee rights and advocates for humane conditions. NGOs, organizations, and human rights committees express concerns over obstacles to filing asylum claims.

4.2 Number of Refugees

Germany's commitment to supporting refugees is robust and diverse. Not only does it stand as the secondlargest donor to UNHCR, but it has also earned the distinction of being the world's third-largest host for refugees, accommodating 2.2 million individuals. Furthermore, Germany plays a significant role as an essential resettlement country. The demographic composition of asylum seekers in Germany is broad, with individuals from nearly all age groups seeking refuge. In the year 2023, approximately 71.9 percent of applicants were under the age of 30. Among them, children and adolescents under 16 years constituted the largest group, accounting for around 26.5 percent, followed by individuals aged 18 to 25 years at 24.8 percent. Notably, the majority of asylum applicants were male, making up 71.6 percent of the total. Approximately 99,586 refugees reside in the Netherlands, with 17,117 awaiting asylum decisions. In 2021, around 10,000 people joined family members with existing permits. Dominantly from Syria, Afghanistan, and Turkey, Ukrainian newcomers numbered around 71,750 in 2022.

Italy, a geographical bridge between east and west, has a history of significant immigration. As of June 2021, there were 134,500 refugees and 53,686 asylum seekers. The first half of 2021 saw 20,600 new asylum requests, double the previous year, with a 57% rejection rate. Additionally, there were 3,000 to 15,000 stateless people, mainly Roma from the former Yugoslavia.

The current number of refugees and asylum seekers in Greece is challenging to measure accurately due to ongoing arrivals, many without seeking legal registration. As of June 30th, 2022, UNHCR estimates over 173,000 people. However, more than 1,200,000 refugees arrived in Greece between 2015 and 2021. Bureaucratic hurdles make it challenging to determine how many remain within Greek territory.

4.3 Economic and Social Characteristics

Germany acknowledges the need for immigration due to demographic shifts. Businesses advocate for refugees, emphasizing their role in economic growth. Whether or not people who immigrate to Germany in general have access to good opportunities depends on the refugee status granted to them by the authorities and the connected rights, on their ability to learn the language, or to speak a language understood in Germany such as English, and no doubt their social and survival skills and prior education levels as well as their access to support e.g. from family and their ability to build alternative networks e.g. friends, business contacts, new family structures. Knowing the German language increases the chance of finding employment. However, varying treatment for different nationalities, precarious statuses like "Ketten-Duldung," a precarious chain of bans on deportation, which leaves people from young to old living in a situation of uncertainty and inability to plan. Their children who grow up here also have the same status. They may not own a passport. In addition, challenges in recognizing qualifications affect refugees.

In the Netherlands newcomers' economic and social prospects vary based on origin, socio-economic backgrounds, and government regulations. For instance, Ukrainians are permitted to work immediately, while others endure extended stays in refugee centres, exacerbating trauma from their home countries.

Newcomers in Italy commonly face economic challenges, with men often employed in agriculture or construction, while women work as caregivers. Charitable organizations, like Caritas, assist many newcomers.

Integration is influenced by employment, with age playing a role, making it easier for youngsters to integrate, particularly through the schooling system. While isolated incidents of racism occur, the society is cohesive in combating such cases.

Refugees in Greece exhibit diverse socio-economic profiles, contrary to the public perception of a homogeneous, low-class group. Varied backgrounds, financial resources, and education levels characterize this population. While some embark on their journey with significant resources, challenges such as robbery and shipwrecks can alter their fortunes.

4.4 Governmental Perspective

Former Chancellor Angela Merkel will go down in history for the policy of her government towards Syrian refugees in autumn/winter 2015-2016, when around 1 million asylum seekers were accepted into the country. This policy was then subject to criticism across party lines, also from within her own party, and from individual MPs and cabinet members, using the emotional nature of the subject for their own political gain. The political administration has remained under pressure from the right and their supporters in the population to ensure that asylum numbers are kept low. The media's focus on the so-called "refugee crisis" and populism further impact public opinion. While the government claims to align policies with public wishes, opposition to refugee intake has disproportionately influenced asylum policies.

Governmental perspectives fluctuate in the Netherlands; verbal support for equal treatment often contrasts with actions. Measures like hindering family reunions, deals with Turkey to deter refugees, extended waiting times, and work restrictions reveal discrepancies.

In Italy the Security Decree of 2018 aimed to reduce refugee numbers, altering procedures and abolishing humanitarian protection status. The government sees immigration control as vital to combat organized crime and terrorism In the political debate the topic has became quite divisive, often resulting in slogans filled with stereotypes used as a battle cry especially by right wing parties.

With the recent results of the last elections, the status of the current legislature regarding this particular topic seems to be quite uncertain. The immigration matter continues to be exploited by media, therefore creating a massive debate, especially when the Italian coastline is reached by ships carrying hundreds of immigrants and refugees.

The government's stance in Greece is encapsulated in "less is more." While officially claiming to welcome newcomers, the emphasis is on minimizing their time in Greece. Inclusion efforts within Greek society receive little attention, and success is measured by expedited departure rather than improved living conditions. They often measure their efficacy not by the quality of living conditions and access of newcomers to services important for long-term residents, but rather by the minimization of the time they spend in our country. Almost no state efforts are made towards the inclusion in Greek society and the increase of motivation to stay here.

4.5 Support Systems

Numerous NGOs in Germany provide services for refugees, offering advice centers, language courses, and mentorship programs. Regional and national initiatives, such as the Refugee Council, play a vital role. Tandem programs, like Start with a Friend, support integration.

In the Netherlands too numerous NGOs provide commendable support, offering health care, education, housing, and pocket money. Organizations like De Vrolijkheid, BOOST, and Refugeeforce contribute to the well-being and integration of newcomers.

Italian laws on immigration have undergone changes, with the Decree 130 reforming the Security Decree. First reception centres initiate asylum requests, and the SAI (Integration and Reception System) facilitates newcomers' structured integration. Various reception centres offer legal aid, work guidance, psychological support, and language lessons. Charitable organizations, including Caritas, assist newcomers struggling with economic challenges.

The ESTIA program, backed by the EU Commission, offers housing, meals, and support services to a small percentage of refugees. Non-Greek NGOs play a crucial role in reception procedures, especially in large camps. Smaller NPOs and local initiatives provide facilitation, healthcare, and non-formal education services, focusing on the Aegean islands and Athens.

4.6 Main Challenges for Refugees

The challenges faced by newcomers in Germany, including administrative complexities, financial struggles, and the stress of integration, particularly for refugees, are significant. Mental health concerns arise from experiences of devaluation, discrimination, and the oscillation between two cultures. While newcomers offer each other support, there's a risk of isolation from the broader community. Prejudices are common, often rooted in language barriers. Young refugees aspire to learn, work, and build their lives quickly, facing hurdles and disparities compared to local youth. Family expectations play a crucial role, and those with recognized qualifications tend to progress faster. Unequal treatment leads to tensions, segregation, and resentment among refugees from different countries. However, both young refugees and local youth seek acceptance, personal growth, and the establishment of their identities.

Refugees in the Netherlands face various challenges in their quest for a new life. The legal and administrative processes surrounding asylum can be intricate, making the attainment of a legal status a challenging journey. Additionally, integration into Dutch society poses a significant task, involving hurdles such as language barriers and understanding local norms and values. Access to the job market is hindered by language issues, recognition of foreign qualifications, and discrimination. Housing often proves to be a bottleneck, with challenges related to finding suitable and affordable accommodation. Healthcare, both physical and mental, may have limited accessibility, while many refugees grapple with traumas and psychological challenges. Building social connections and integration into society are complicated by prejudices and social isolation.

Refugees in Italy face mental health challenges and uncertain statuses. Most of the refugees coming to Italy have to endure a very hard journey across the see or the Balkan route where they are often victims of violence. A refugee is, by definition, someone forced to leave the home country without a plan. This unplanned migration, characterized by uncertainty, also affects their mental health resulting in the inability to stabilize their new life and integrate in the society.

Refugees tend to have an idealize image of the country they aim for, which is in most cases just an illusion. Regarding Italy most of the reception structures are not prepared to host as many refugees as there are. Thus, their living conditions are often miserable and nothing liked they hoped.

These factors leads to exploitation by criminal organizations especially in human trafficking and agriculture.

In Greece, bureaucracy poses a significant challenge for refugees aiming to move to other European countries or stay in Greece. The legal procedure to do this is really time consuming, which is why some choose the illegal route. Moreover, while they are staying in Greece and for those who wish to stay here, again, the bureaucratic procedures for many of the things they need (e.g. legal papers, health care, work) are time-consuming and distressing. Finding a job is also a major challenge for many of the refugees. In addition, depending on the context and the place where they live, they face other challenges such as possibly hostile treatment of the locals, hostile relations between them (between different races), problems with the law, physical and mental health problems.

4.7 Tensions Between Local and Newcomer Youth

It is mentioned that in Germany youth their exploration of identity can lead to tensions, fuelled by prejudices and discrimination. Lack of knowledge, media biases, and parental influence can result in misunderstandings and rivalry. Asylum status disparities among newcomer youth contribute to frustration and envy. Lack of knowledge, rumors, and media bias contribute to inaccurate views of newcomers. Positive contact with "the other" can challenge prejudices, but organized efforts and intensive activities are needed where prejudices persist. Tensions among newcomers can arise based on rights and privileges linked to asylum status, creating disparities and fostering frustration and resentment between groups. In the Netherlands tensions vary by location; Amsterdam, with its cultural diversity and left-wing government, generally fosters a welcoming environment. Dynamics may differ in other regions.

In Italy, overall, there appears to be minimal tension between local and newcomer youngsters due to shared spaces and interests. Segregation is avoided through common activities. Prejudices are more noticeable among young immigrants and middle-aged individuals. Economic disparities can cause tensions, but the schooling system plays a crucial role in promoting diversity and eradicating racism.

Interaction between local and newcomer youngsters in Greece also varies based on living contexts, with for example, closed camps limiting social interaction. Refugee minors may face obstacles in accessing education, leading to a lack of interaction with local peers. Incidents of racist treatment exist, but there are instances of local youth defending and assisting refugee youngsters. For example minors sometimes share problems for example with the teachers at school, where they were defended by their classmates.

4.8 Capabilities, Hopes, and Dreams

In Germany young refugees aspire to learn the language, obtain education, secure employment, and build their lives. Initial enthusiasm is often followed by realistic expectations and a desire for recognition. Family expectations, guidance, and role models play crucial roles in shaping their paths.

Youth in the Netherlands, both local and newcomers, exhibit diverse capabilities influenced by social capital and country of origin. Elevated living costs make them pragmatic, requiring hard work and connection to Dutch society to realize their dreams.

Young refugees once saw Italy as a place to build a new life, but now it's often viewed as an intermediate stage before aiming for other countries. Efforts by associations promoting multicultural dialogue create opportunities for integration. Youngsters engaging in integration efforts enrich their knowledge, while newcomers, often multilingual, find opportunities to prove their capabilities.

Dreams and hopes of both refugees and local youth commonly involve a future outside of Greece. A documentary illustrates that the aspirations of children from diverse backgrounds, both local and refugee, envision futures abroad. The capabilities of these youth vary, but proficiency in technology, IT, and social media is a common strength.

4.9 Toolkit's Value in the Country

The toolkit offers a structured framework for communication, creating a safe space to transcend prejudice. Through artistic play and shared experiences, it facilitates multilingual, intercultural journeys, fostering positive memories for both local and newcomer youth. The toolkit, if widely applied, could support similar experiences across Germany and Europe.

The toolkit aligns with the call for extensive research on bridging social capital in the Netherlands. By connecting newcomer and local youth through cultural media, it aims to address trauma, formulate shared perspectives, provide encouragement, and enhance storytelling skills, contributing positively to their shared future.

In Italy, the toolkit can aid facilitators in organizing multicultural workshops. Associations expressing interest in such workshops could benefit from the toolkit's diverse exercises. Structured guidance ensures more efficient activities catering to various facilitators and participants.

The toolkit in Greece is anticipated to offer youth workers a creative approach to engage mixed population groups, including refugees. While other training tools exist, YOUR JOURNEY toolkit's unique perspective on visual creativity and storytelling aligns with the core interests of the youth. It has the potential to facilitate expression and collaboration between locals and newcomers, contributing to a better understanding of their shared temporary home.

Refugees across these countries face disparities in treatment, challenges in recognizing qualifications, and varied prospects. Tensions exist between local and newcomer youth, influenced by prejudices, economic disparities, and the schooling system. The presented toolkit offers a promising solution for fostering positive interactions and communication between local and newcomer youth, aligning with the call for research on bridging social capital. If widely applied, it could contribute positively to shared experiences across Europe.

5 Method

In total 46 exercises where developed during the Your Journey project. The evaluation process for the "Your Journey" toolkit workshops involved a structured and comprehensive approach, integrating feedback from both facilitators and participants. The primary goal was to assess the usability and effectiveness of the exercises and guidelines included in the toolkit but also to investigate the 'feelings of home' of the participants and to gather insights and feedback to enhance the overall workshop experience. The entire evaluation process was conducted using Google Forms, ensuring a standardized and accessible platform for all participating organizations. The use of a digital format facilitated efficient data collection, analysis, and subsequent adjustments to the toolkit based on the feedback received. Two forms were developed one for the facilitator to fill in about the tools and the workshop and one for the participants to fill in after the workshop. Facilitators were required to complete the evaluation form for every exercise conducted in the workshop. This form covered aspects such as the exercise's title and positive feedback received from participants. An observation grid was utilized as a tool to assess the exercises comprehensively. This involved assessing whether the correct categories, phases, and objectives were selected for each exercise. Duration and material requirements were also scrutinized for accuracy. Facilitators provided comments on necessary adjustments and whether the exercise descriptions were clear and accurate. Based on these descriptions, and the experiences of the facilitators the tools for the final toolkit were adjusted, chosen, and spin offs of exercises where added, and can be found on <u>https://yourjourney.nu/</u>.

The outcomes of the participant evaluations where analyzed with the software program SPSS. In the participant evaluation we asked participants' motivations, satisfaction levels, emotional engagement, feelings of home and the transformative impact of the "Your Journey" workshop.

6 Results

In total 145 participants joined the workshops and filled in the questionnaire in the 4 countries. Please not that in the workshops 19 participants filled in the questionnaire in Germany , constituting 13.1% of the total sample, Greece 32, making up 22.1% of the total, Italy 20 participants, representing 13.8% of the total and the majority 74 in total filled in the questionnaire in The Netherlands, making up 51% of the sample. This should be kept in mind when interpretating the results. The mean age was 25, 80% had a refugee background, and 51% was female, 48% male and 0,8% non-binary.

To start with some general information, overall, most participants found the workshops satisfying (28%) to very satisfying (62%). When looking at how much the participants feel at home, 51% indicated they feel neutral, 27% feel at home and 9% feels totally at home. When asking about changed perceptions on the subject 46% feel neutral, 19% indicated nothing had changed and 35% indicate they feel more at home because of the connection with others during the workshops.

Below graphs indicate the feeling at home and changed perceptions divided by local youngsters and youngsters with a refugee background. Notably, all local participants expressed feeling either at home or totally at home, with a total of 21 respondents in these categories. In contrast, youngsters with a refugee background had a more varied response, with large number (58) indicating a neutral stance and 20 participants feeling at home. This suggests that youngsters with a refugee background may have a more diverse range of experiences and feelings about their sense of belonging in the country. Additionally, a small number of these youngsters (4) mentioned feeling slightly not at home, highlighting a nuanced range of sentiments within this group.

In summary, the refugee situations in Germany, the Netherlands, Greece, and Italy are complex, marked by diverse challenges and varying approaches.



The graph below suggests that participants' perceptions of feeling at home did vary after the workshop, depending on their local or refugee background. The majority of respondents (48) reported that they totally feel more at home due to the connections made during the workshop. However, a significant number (27) mentioned that nothing has changed in terms of their perception of feeling at home. Interestingly, a considerable number of participants with a refugee background (41) reported a positive change compared to their local counterparts (7). Additionally, a higher number of local participants (44) expressed a more neutral stance. This suggests that the workshop had a notable impact on participants' sense of belonging, particularly for individuals with a refugee background who may have experienced a more significant shift in their feelings of being at home.



When looking at the relationship between participants' feelings of being at home and their respective countries of residence (Germany, Greece, Italy, and The Netherlands), the majority of participants in Germany and Italy reported feeling either at home or totally at home. In contrast, participants in Greece and The Netherlands exhibited a more varied response, with a significant number expressing a neutral stance. The data suggests that participants in Germany and Italy may have a stronger sense of being at home in their respective countries compared to those in Greece and The Netherlands. This is not in line with wat we expected that Italy and Greece and be perceived as driving though countries to reach the more Nordic countries such as Germany or the Netherlands. However, it's important to note that individual experiences and perceptions of "feeling at home" can be influenced by various factors beyond just the country of residence. The nuance in responses across different countries highlights the complexity of the relationship between one's sense of belonging and the country they live in.



S.I Greece

6.1.1 Workshop experience

Overall, the participants enjoyed participating in the workshops. Over 80% felt comfortable during the workshops, 97% felt they learned something new *"I understood a lot of things in this experience"*. Participants found the experience to be highly valuable and satisfying. They expressed happiness and enjoyment. Specific elements, such as making their own stories, being in groups, and creating stories from photos, were highlighted as creative and clever, contributing to the overall positive experience. The creative and clever elements of storymaking from photos were appreciated, although some felt that more time was needed for the final part. They liked for example, communicating with foreign people, learning about other peoples' culture, interest and learning new concepts, to use their imagination and get out of their heads. The opportunity to express themselves in different ways and meet new people was appreciated by some. Additionally, participants expressed satisfaction because they learned new things and felt a sense of belonging. Overall, the feedback suggests that the workshop was well-received, providing a positive and enriching experience for the participants.

Participants felt they learned a lot, and the workshop was described as very satisfying, enjoyable, and beneficial. All the participants would suggest this workshop to other people: they expressed positive learning experiences and personal growth during the workshop. Many mentioned learning about new cultures and concepts, broadening their understanding of different perspectives. The workshop provided a platform for participants to freely let their imaginations roam and express thoughts without overthinking, fostering creative and uninhibited self-expression e.g. *"It's an interesting chance to meet people and exchange ideas and stories, as well as express artistically through storytelling and photographs"*.

The opportunity to learn about others' interests and viewpoints was valued, promoting a deeper understanding of diverse perspectives in life. Participants felt that they had expressed their feelings through the workshop and some wished for more time to work with pictures and create additional stories. While not all explicitly mentioned learning, some indicated that the workshop prompted them to think about certain subjects from different perspectives. Engaging with people from different cultures was highlighted as a valuable aspect of the experience, contributing to improved communication skills. Overall, the workshop was viewed as a new and enriching experience" *I really think people need to know about such things*". , with specific emphasis on learning about photography and a willingness to continue learning in this field



Various exercises were really appreciated. Participants in the workshop expressed satisfaction with various activities, emphasizing the positive impact on their experience. Many enjoyed storytelling exercises, such as creating stories, inventing narratives, and recalling a collaborative story made in a circle on the first day. e.g. *"I liked the exercise where we were asked to create a story. Because this exercise made us think of a story we would love to live"*. The exercise involving taking pictures and expressing emotions creatively resonated with some, providing relaxation and room for expression e.g. *"The photo shooting, I think because it makes us bond as a team and co-create beautiful photos"*, which indicated that this mixture really works. *"I really liked the part of making our own stories and being split into groups, and also the story making out of photos it was creative and clever..."*. Cutting pictures and creating stories from them were particularly liked, as these exercises like removing a part of a whole picture, viewing it as a metaphor for seeing things from different perspectives. Overall, the workshop's interactive and creative elements, including storytelling, picture-taking, and group activities, contributed to a positive and memorable experience for the participants, fostering connection, hope, and learning.

6.1.2 Feeling at home

The main purpose of the workshops was for participants to feel more at home in the country they are residing in. We asked them how much they feel at home in the country they live in. 16,7% felt slightly not at home, 50% felt at neutral and 33,3% felt at home.



In addition we asked if their perception of feeling at home changed after the workshop by connecting with others.



Although the majority felt neutral, 22% felt more at home because of the connection with others during the workshop and for example explained 'I was welcomed like it was home'.

- 6.2 The Netherlands
 - 6.2.1 Workshop experience

Overall, the participants enjoyed participating in the workshops. 72% felt comfortable during the workshops and 23% felt slightly comfortable, 89.6% felt they learned something new "*New stories behind other people*" or "*Very nice to work on pictures and stories with refugees*". Based on the open question answers, participants learned to use light from different angles for simple and portrait pictures, combining photography with storytelling. They found it enjoyable sharing stories with refugees, and expressing themselves through pictures

and stories. The surprise element of light in pictures was highlighted, along with the ability to connect and express through this combination. The workshop provided a platform for making portraits with smartphones, incorporating storytelling, and discovering new storytelling exercises. The collaborative nature of the workshop, team dynamics, and the interactive elements were appreciated. Additionally, they engaged in activities such as painting, creating installations, and building 'historical houses', gaining insights into how newcomers think. Overall, the experience was described as fun, mind-opening, and creatively stimulating.

92% the participants would suggest this workshop to other people "Being in a positive atmosphere for a few hours makes me feel better!". `Participants found the workshop to be a nice way to meet new people and have a good time. They described it as fun, interesting, and enjoyable, emphasizing the positive atmosphere, good workshops, and the opportunity to exchange pictures, stories, and music. Some highlighted the importance of having a nice day outside the AZC, with nice people and a pleasant lunch. While there were considerations about travel expenses and busy schedules, many expressed interest in organizing such a day for themselves or their friends at the AZC, noting that it would be appreciated but might require addressing logistical challenges. Overall, participants had a positive and enjoyable experience during the workshop. 68% found the workshop very satisfying and 25% satisfying.



Overall, participants had a positive experience with the workshop. They appreciated the warm welcome, interesting introductions, and the opportunity to try new things. There were positive comments about the nice group dynamics, pleasant venue, and the intercultural interaction. The workshops were generally seen as interesting, although some found them a bit complicated or felt the need for more time for explanation. The informal environment and the opportunity to meet diverse people were highlighted as positive aspects. Participants enjoyed various activities, storytelling, brainstorming, and painting. Some participants expressed high expectations, and others found the workshop inspiring and creative. A few mentioned feeling a "bit nervous" or "experiencing moments of boredom, suggesting potential areas for improvement". Overall, the feedback indicates a mix of overall positive experiences and some constructive suggestions for enhancing the workshop.

The answers indicate that the "Share the Light" exercise and the "Mutual Visual Storytelling" activity were generally well-received. Participants found the visual storytelling exercise to be diverse, challenging, and connecting. The group work aspect was appreciated, and some participants mentioned it as their favorite. The "Urban Photostory" exercise also received positive feedback, with participants enjoying the process of taking pictures with the group. "Music and Storytelling" and "Cut and Frame" were mentioned as enjoyable exercises, with some expressing surprise at finding them interesting. Additionally, the "5 Views on Home" activity, particularly the part involving building a dream house, received positive comments. Overall, participants seemed satisfied with the variety of exercises and appreciated the different perspectives offered in the activities. There was also a positive mention of the museum tour and the experience of interpreting Van Gogh's paintings.

6.2.2 Feeling at home

The main purpose of the workshops was for participants to feel more at home in the country they are residing in. We asked them how much they feel at home in the country they live in. 8,3% felt slightly not at home, 55% felt at neutral, 25% felt at home and 7,3% felt at home. Please note that there were also native Dutch participants in the workshop.



In addition we asked if their perception of feeling at home changed after the workshop by connecting with others.



Participants in the workshop expressed a diverse range of sentiments about their experiences: a minority of 20% felt nothing has changed, 43% felt neutral, 38 % felt more at home because of the connection with others during the workshop. Some individuals conveyed feelings of happiness and hopefulness in the country, while others, especially those born in the Netherlands, described a sense of being at home and enjoying life in Amsterdam. For asylum seekers residing in an Asylum Seeker Center (AZC), uncertainty about their stay in the Netherlands was evident, yet they felt a welcoming atmosphere within the group. The workshops were seen as an opportunity to connect with new people and explore creative expressions. However, challenges included concerns about the extensive information requested for administrative purposes. The diversity and interaction

in the group were valued, with some participants actively involved in political activism for more inclusivity. The workshops prompted reflections on privilege, with a Dutch participant realizing their fortunate living situation. The museum visit and creative exercises were generally appreciated, fostering a positive and comfortable group dynamic. Overall, the experiences ranged from hopeful and enriching to challenging, reflecting the diverse backgrounds and perspectives of the participants.

6.3 Italy

6.3.1 Workshop experience

Respectively, 40 % and 35% found the workshops satisfying to very satisfying "*it was a new experience, I learned new things that can be useful*". In addition, 40% felt comfortable during the workshops and 40 % felt slightly comfortable, 75 % felt they learned something new "*good exercises to tell stories, some new tricks for taking photos, I don't know if I will use all of them, but were surely interesting*" or "*I know every person coming from abroad has a story, it was good to learn some of them*". Participants in the workshop expressed a diverse range of sentiments regarding their experience. While some individuals enjoyed the exercises, found them engaging, and even learned valuable new skills, some felt that the learning aspect fell short of expectations. However, many participants highlighted the enjoyable and fun aspects of the workshop, emphasizing the value of the social interactions and the discovery of new things. Overall, while some participants felt that something was missing, the workshop provided a positive and engaging atmosphere.

95% the participants would suggest this workshop to other people "there is much to learn from spending time with other people, even more when we are so different". Participants appreciated the pleasant atmosphere and enjoyable exercises, with some expressing that it could be a fun experience for others. The value of spending time with diverse individuals is highlighted, emphasizing the learning potential from such interactions. While participants generally had a good time, some desired the activities to be shorter. The recognition that the workshop could teach new skills, usable freely, adds a positive dimension. Some mentioned that their expectations did not fully aligning with the experience, but the importance of coming out of one's own bubble and understanding different perspectives is acknowledged, contributing to an overall positive impression, with many expressing a desire to participate again.



Participants in the workshop expressed a wide range of preferences for specific exercises, emphasizing the diversity of interests within the group. Some enjoyed sensory experiences, like the blindfolded exercise in the park, relishing the opportunity to perceive their surroundings through smell and sound. Collaborative activities, such as drawing together or creating group statues, were praised for their fun and interactive nature. The photography exercise with different lights appealed to those with a visual creativity inclination. Storytelling

exercises were a hit, especially when conducted in a group setting, fostering a sense of shared creativity and reducing individual pressure. Conversations around personal and cultural narratives, like memories and favorite foods, were appreciated. Noteworthy was the emotional complexity experienced during exercises that delved into personal histories, showcasing the workshop's potential for deep introspection. The responses collectively illustrate the diverse ways in which participants engaged with and valued various workshop activities, showcasing the workshop's ability to cater to a broad spectrum of interests and preferences. 6.3.2 Feeling at home

Participants were asked how much they feel at home in the country they live in. 5 % felt slightly not at home, 20% felt neutral, 45% felt at home and 30% felt totally at home. Please note that there were also native participants in the workshop.



In addition we asked if their perception of feeling at home changed after the workshop by connecting with others.



35 % felt nothing has changed, 30 % felt neutral, 35% felt more at home because of the connection with others during the workshop. The responses reflect varied sentiments regarding the impact of the workshop on participants' sense of connection and belonging. Some individuals, born and raised in Bolzano, found joy in

6.4 Germany

6.4.1 Workshop experience

In Germany the participants indicated that they found the workshops satisfying (37%) to very satisfying (47%) " *It was very creative. The teachers were wonderful. I always had photography, now I also have storytelling as a way of expressing myself.*". They appreciated the kindness and inspiration of everyone involved. The learning aspect extended beyond photography, with storytelling becoming a newfound mode of self-expression for some. The exhibition was notably appreciated, described as "*the coolest thing*". The creative atmosphere and good teachers fostered an environment where individuals could share and develop their stories. Collaboration in photography sessions, where participants learned about light, shadow, frame, and aperture, was praised, along with the multicultural setting that allowed for interactions with people from diverse backgrounds, including refugees. The storytelling component, though familiar to some, provided a unique perspective akin to theater. Challenges such as time constraints and work commitments were acknowledged, but overall, the workshop exceeded expectations, offering not only personal growth and professional inspiration but also the opportunity to forge meaningful connections with like-minded individuals. The therapeutic and satisfying nature of the experience was emphasized, with participants expressing gratitude for the chance to share stories and explore common interests.

In addition, all the participants felt they learned something new '*'I learnt that many people like telling stories even if they are not prepared for it. I saw it with the others and felt their joy.*" They expressed valuable insights and personal growth through their experiences. Even confidence emerged as a theme, emphasizing the understanding that art and creativity are highly individualistic, with each person harboring unique abilities but also in sharing their stories and presenting photos like artists.

While some participants already possessed knowledge about photography, they found new perspectives through storytelling, learning to use photos as a means to narrate stories.

Learning to use light effectively and gaining a deeper understanding of photography, storytelling, and their combined potential were significant takeaways. Overall, the workshop contributed to enhanced confidence, a willingness to share feelings, and inspired creativity among the participants.

All of the participants would suggest this workshop to other people "You can meet cool people and learn about storytelling, or deepen what you know". They mention that those who enjoy photography or theatre would likely benefit. In addition it is mentioned that the sense of freedom to express oneself, learning about photo art, taking part in an exhibition, and feeling like an artist were noted as valuable aspects. The overall experience was

discovering camaraderie with strangers, forming new friendships, and feeling a sense of inclusion within their groups. Others expressed satisfaction with the company and activities but noted that their overall situation or feelings hadn't significantly changed. There's acknowledgment of privilege in feeling welcomed and comfortable. For those from outside Bolzano, the workshop elicited a range of emotions—from a newfound sense of home to a strengthening of connections with fellow participants. Open communication and shared activities were appreciated, fostering a feeling of group belonging. However, a few participants mentioned not feeling a profound connection or significant change in their situations despite learning about others. Overall, the responses underscore the workshop's influence on social dynamics, with varying degrees of impact on participants' sense of home and connection.



described as fun, and participants found it to be a creative space conducive to personal and artistic growth.

Participants in the workshop expressed a diverse range of favorite exercises, each highlighting unique aspects of the experience. Some favored the storytelling exercise, appreciating the creative and collaborative aspect of continuing others' stories. The photography exercise that involved searching for light resonated with others, emphasizing the importance of light in photography. The "Art Remake" exercise was popular for its creative expression and the opportunity to convey personal stories through artistic means. The exercise "To the present," where a photo was used to write a story, stood out for its emotional impact and ease of story generation. The "Urban photo story" and "Share the Light" exercises were particularly enjoyed for their personal and collaborative nature.

"Paint your story" was praised for its unique approach, utilizing body movements to convey a narrative. The exercise involving sharing stories about favorite food garnered enthusiasm, creating an enjoyable and "hunger-inducing" atmosphere. Various photography exercises, such as "Art Remake" and "One symbolic photo," were appreciated for their creativity and the opportunity to share ideas. The exercise "5 views of home," which involved making an installation with objects and photos, was singled out for its uniqueness and artistic engagement.

Overall, participants valued exercises that encouraged creativity, personal expression, collaboration, and the intersection of storytelling and visual arts.

6.4.2 Feeling at home

Participants were asked how much they feel at home in the country they live in. 15,8% felt slightly not at home, 42% felt neutral, 32% felt at home and 10% felt totally at home. Please note that there were also native participants in the workshop.



In addition we asked if their perception of feeling at home changed after the workshop by connecting with others.



53% felt neutral, 48% felt more at home because of the connection with others during the workshop. While some acknowledge changes in their perspectives, there are the challenges associated with them *'I am more clear about what I miss about my former homeland. Here we are safe but there is discrimination'*. The multicultural nature of the group in the workshop seems to have a positive impact, fostering a sense of belonging in some participant *It didn't actually change my feelings about "feeling at home". However, it was an amazing experience to talk about it and share the stories each other.* Overall, the responses convey a mixture of emotions, the discussion of the feeling at home subject made most participants think about the subject and the different perceptions of feeling at home. However, it did not necessarily increase de feeling of being at home for half of the participants.

7 . Conclusion

Stichting CultuurGeneratie, Conny Groot 10 juni 2025.

References:

Assembly, U. G. (1951). Convention relating to the status of refugees. United Nations, Treaty Series, 189(1), 137.

Abdelaaty, L., & Steele, L. G. (2022). Explaining attitudes toward refugees and immigrants in Europe. Political Studies, 70(1), 110-130.

Crozet, M. (n.d.). Identity and stress in the inte

In our Your Journey project we used creative methodologies to explore and enhance the sense of home and belonging among youth with a local background and including a substantial proportion of youth with refugee backgrounds. The results should be interpreted with caution due to the fact that the majority of participants had a refugee background and the amount of participants in the Netherlands was higher than in the other countries.

The workshops demonstrated high participant satisfaction, with a majority expressing not only contentment but also a sense of personal growth. The creative elements, storytelling and photography, provided a platform for individuals to share narratives, fostering connections and understanding among participants. The positive reception underscores the potential of creative interventions to transcend cultural and linguistic barriers, enabling diverse individuals to find common ground.

The cross-country variation in participants' feelings of being at home challenges preconceived notions. Germany and the Netherlands, often perceived as destination countries, did not show a stronger sense of home among participants while participants in Italy, perceived as a passing though county, did indicate a sense of feeling at home. This unexpected finding highlights the intricate relationship between one's sense of belonging and the specific context of their country of residence. Further research could explore the nuanced factors influencing these variations as the number of participants in this research in the Netherlands was much larger dan in the other countries.

The project's success in promoting a sense of community and understanding among participants aligns with previous studies emphasizing the role of storytelling and creative expression in building connections. One noteworthy aspect is the influence of the workshop on participants' perceptions of home. The majority reported a positive change, particularly among those with a refugee background. This suggests that the creative interventions facilitated by the project play a crucial role in shaping a more positive and inclusive sense of home, especially for individuals who have experienced displacement. Therefore we strongly recommend the use of our toolkit for youth workers, teachers, artists, young leaders, social workers, volunteers, social entrepreneurs and other people working with people with a refugee background.

In conclusion, the Your Journey project represents a promising approach to addressing the multifaceted dimensions of home and belonging among diverse youth. As future iterations of such projects are developed, a comprehensive evaluation of long-term impacts and an exploration of additional contextual factors will be crucial to refining and optimizing interventions aimed at fostering a sense of home and community among individuals with diverse backgrounds.